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          1  DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: This is the

          3  budget hearing on the Department of Corrections.

          4  Welcome, Commissioner Kerik, we look forward to

          5  going over this with you. You have some preliminary

          6  testimony you would like to share with us?

          7                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, I do. Good

          8  morning, Chairman Leffler and members of the Public

          9  Safety and Finance Committees. I thank you for this

         10  opportunity to discuss with you the Department's

         11  Fiscal 2000 Preliminary Budget.

         12                 Let me first brief you on the current

         13  status of the Department and our plans for the

         14  upcoming fiscal year, and then my staff and I will

         15  answer your questions.

         16                 The New York City Department of

         17  Correction currently operates 16 jails, including

         18  ten on Rikers and six others in the Bronx, Queens,

         19  Brooklyn and Manhattan.

         20                 Of these facilities, 14 are now open.

         21  The Vernon C. Bain Center is currently being used to

         22  house up to 100 juvenile offenders in the custody of

         23  the Department of Juvenile Justice, while the

         24  Brooklyn Correctional Facility is closed at this

         25  time.
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          2                 Our average daily inmate population

          3  includes approximately 18,000 inmates, of which

          4  1,600 inmates are transported to courts each

          5  business day.

          6                 This fiscal year we are anticipating

          7  total admissions of 133,846, a three percent from

          8  last fiscal year, which would be the highest

          9  admissions ever for the Department.

         10                 Ensuring the proper care, custody and

         11  control of these inmates, it is a responsibility of

         12  the Department's 11,104 uniformed and 1,592 civilian

         13  employees. Our members are a highly professional,

         14  talented and extremely dedicated group, and I am

         15  honored to be able to work with them in carrying out

         16  our mission.

         17                 For Fiscal '99 the Department has

         18  been budgeted $839.3 million. This includes an

         19  overtime budget of $65 million, $16.5 million above

         20  our overtime expenditures during the previous fiscal

         21  year. This is due largely to scheduled overtime,

         22  which increased from the higher population levels,

         23  as well as from a lower uniformed headcount.

         24                 To keep overtime down and replace

         25  attrition, the Department hired 125 new correction
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          2  officers who will graduate the Correction Academy in

          3  April. The Department has 38 civilianizations

          4  planned for the fiscal year and we expect to be able

          5  to meet most of those by June 30th.

          6                 Additional funding has also been

          7  provided as part of the January Plan for the

          8  Departmental needs, including 240,000 for body

          9  scanning equipment, and 90,000 to provide for 24

         10  hour coverage at the Central Punitive Segregation

         11  Unit, or CPSU, where the Department's most violent

         12  inmates are held.

         13                 The budget also includes 196,000 to

         14  staff six additional officers for fire safety

         15  inspections throughout our facilities.

         16                 The amended correctional law, Section

         17  95, allows the State Department of Correctional

         18  Services to enter into contracts with the City of

         19  New York, as well as other municipal jails to hold

         20  certain non-violent inmates in their facilities.

         21                 While the Department has entered into

         22  one such contract with the state, we reserve the

         23  right to determine which inmates will be placed on

         24  contract and to vary the number depending upon our

         25  space availability and the state's need.
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          2                 In the first half of Fiscal '99, we

          3  housed an average of 274 contract inmates. In return

          4  for housing these inmates, the Department will be

          5  reimbursed at a rate of $100 per day. The

          6  preliminary budget assumes that the Department will

          7  earn 10.6 million in the current year, with an

          8  average of 290 leased beds daily.

          9                 Fiscal 2000 plan assumes that an

         10  average of 200 beds will be available for lease,

         11  yielding a revenue of $7.3 million.

         12                 Although the Department's inmate

         13  population has increased, it still remains

         14  substantially lower than our total capacity.

         15                 As a result, the Department has been

         16  able to keep capacity closed and reduce staff needs.

         17  Our significant efforts in gang tracking and inmate

         18  arrests have reduced incidence of violence in the

         19  facilities resulting in an overall lower volume of

         20  hospital runs, which has also helped reduce uniform

         21  overtime.

         22                 In Fiscal 2000 the average daily

         23  inmate population is projected to be 17,851, with

         24  total admissions reaching 133,236, almost even with

         25  Fiscal '99's projected admissions.
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          2                 To the meet the needs for the

          3  upcoming fiscal year, our budget is planned at

          4  $863.5 million, of which $67.5 million is overtime,

          5  which given the current population projections and

          6  capacity plans should be sufficient.

          7                 The budget includes increased funding

          8  for 271 new correction officers who will graduate

          9  from the Correction Academy in July. The addition of

         10  these new officers will enable the Department to

         11  avoid approximately $20 million in overtime cost.

         12                 Although included in the budget for

         13  Fiscal 2000, also included in the budget for Fiscal

         14  2000 is $322,000 for X-ray machines to provide

         15  enhanced security measures to reduce the entry of

         16  contraband into our facilities.

         17                 I would also like to highlight for

         18  you a number of the Department's significant

         19  achievements which have occurred over the last few

         20  months.

         21                 These include facility management,

         22  violence reduction, substance abuse programs and

         23  technology enhancements.

         24                 The Department's management of its

         25  jails continues to be one of its greatest strengths.
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          2  Placing inmates in our facilities has never been a

          3  matter of simply allotting a cell to each inmate.

          4  Inmates must be separated according to a list of

          5  criteria, including sex, age, security

          6  classification, gang affiliation, among many other

          7  factors.

          8                 This presents a significant challenge

          9  to the Department as separating inmates greatly

         10  reduces our ability to consolidate space in order to

         11  keep capacity closed and reduce overtime cost.

         12                 However, through the Department's

         13  sophisticated tracking of inmates and allotment of

         14  jail cells, the Department has been able to keep 99

         15  percent of its open capacity filled, while closing

         16  as part of the Department's reserved beds an average

         17  for this fiscal year of 3,703 beds.

         18                 In addition, while jail space is

         19  closed, we have made the most of this opportunity by

         20  performing long-term facility maintenance projects.

         21                 This includes the Department's fire

         22  safety program. For the first six months of Fiscal

         23  Year, the Department has started three fire safety

         24  projects.

         25                 Another area where the Department has
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          2  earned high marks is in its violence reduction

          3  efforts, for which it has earned national attention

          4  and serves as a model for other correction agencies

          5  around the world.

          6                 At the start of Fiscal '95, incidents

          7  of inmate on inmate stabbings and slashings, by far

          8  the most significant indicator of inmate violence,

          9  were occurring at a rate of more than 130 per month.

         10                 In response to the frequency of these

         11  incidents, the Department implemented a

         12  comprehensive violence reduction program. This

         13  program included a number of initiatives, the most

         14  important of which was holding managers accountable

         15  for the reductions of violence in their facilities.

         16                 While no violence is acceptable,

         17  these incidents dropped from a total of 1,093 in

         18  Fiscal '95, 229 incidents in Fiscal '98. For the

         19  first seven months of this fiscal year there have

         20  been a total of 62 such incidents. It is a 79

         21  percent decrease from Fiscal '95.

         22                 In addition, the Department Central

         23  Punitive Segregation Unit or CPSU, where our most

         24  violent inmates are housed, has similarly seen a

         25  drop in the number of stabbings and slashings. While
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          2  in Fiscal '96 there were 58 of these incidents, this

          3  figure has dropped to five in Fiscal '98, a 91

          4  percent decrease.

          5                 The January Financial Plan provides

          6  1.1 million for the 36 members of the gang, for the

          7  Department's Gang Intelligence Unit.

          8                 While this funding is only one-tenth

          9  of one percent of DOC's entire budget for the next

         10  year, this unit plays a very significant role in our

         11  violence reduction efforts.

         12                 The Gang Intelligence Unit is

         13  responsible for investigating and effecting inmate

         14  and visitor arrests throughout the Department.

         15  During their investigations, members of the unit

         16  gather information on the incident in question, and

         17  also accumulate extensive information on gangs and

         18  other criminal activity.

         19                 Since the unit's inception, the

         20  Department's arrest activity has increased by over

         21  300 percent. Inmate arrest in Fiscal '96 totaled

         22  153, rising to 202 in '97, and in Fiscal '98, 739 in

         23  Fiscal '98, and 698 in the first seven months of

         24  Fiscal '99.

         25                 These arrests in turn have helped to
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          2  bring inmate violence down to even lower levels.

          3                 In addition, information gathered

          4  through the Gang Intelligence Unit has been a

          5  benefit to the NYPD, FBI, DEA and other law

          6  enforcement agencies at the local, state and federal

          7  levels.

          8                 Let me turn now to the care of

          9  inmates. Providing care for inmates remains among

         10  our highest priorities. DOC has expanded its efforts

         11  in this area.

         12                 In October we completed our planned

         13  expansion of the SAID Program to 1,548 beds. In

         14  addition to detainees, we now offer substance abuse

         15  treatment services to sentenced inmates,

         16  adolescents, male batterers, mentally ill chemical

         17  abusers and high security inmates. With this 1,548

         18  bed volunteer program, we believe we can serve up to

         19  99 percent of the eligible population who are in our

         20  custody over 40 days.

         21                 One of the key components of any

         22  jail-based program is discharge planning, which

         23  includes providing a link to a program in the

         24  community for the participating inmate upon release.

         25                 It is important that participants in
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          2  our programs continue the substance abuse treatment,

          3  get jobs and pursue education as a means to keep

          4  them from re-entering the criminal justice system.

          5                 Discharge planning is offered in our

          6  SAID programs through HIIP and STEP and in our

          7  education programs.

          8                 We are also working with the City

          9  Council staff to expand our discharge planning in

         10  aftercare efforts with funding you are providing

         11  this fiscal year.

         12                 With these funds we anticipate that

         13  community-based organizations will identify inmates

         14  during incarceration, provide a means for them to

         15  get their community-based program upon release and

         16  encourage them to remain in the community-based

         17  program for at least 90 days.

         18                 While a recent study of SAID

         19  participants indicated that recidivism rates were

         20  only slightly less than the inmate population as a

         21  whole, the study did not account for any

         22  participation in community-based programs. We

         23  anticipate that with existing resources we can now

         24  place and follow an inmate who has participated in

         25  our SAID or HIIP programs after discharge to more
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          2  accurately gauge the success of these programs.

          3                 We have been working with the Mayor's

          4  Office of Operations Year 2000 Project Office since

          5  the onset of the City's Year 2000 Project.

          6                 We have completed our inventory of

          7  critical systems and have assessed the impact of the

          8  Y2K on systems we deem mission critical. Systems

          9  that are compliant and systems that have been

         10  determined to be non-compliant are either now

         11  repaired or in the process of being remedied,

         12  replaced or retired from our inventory.

         13                 Funding for our Year 2000 activities

         14  has been approved and incorporated into the current

         15  or previous financial plans. In addition, we are

         16  also working with the Mayor's Office of Emergency

         17  Management to identify and document our critical

         18  business functions, the assets that support these

         19  functions and to develop contingency plans that will

         20  ensure the continuation of key services as we enter

         21  the Year 2000.

         22                 Last fiscal year, with the assistance

         23  of the Criminal Justice Coordinator, the Police

         24  Department and the local District Attorney's Office,

         25  the Department implemented a computerized victim
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          2  notification system known as VINE. This system

          3  notifies registered crime victims when an inmate has

          4  left DOC custody.

          5                 VINE has proven popular with the

          6  public as an aid to crime victims.

          7                 Since the program's inception, in

          8  October of '98, through the end of January of this

          9  year, we have received 2,874 registrations.

         10                 In addition, once planned

         11  enhancements to VINE are completed by the state in

         12  Fiscal 2000, crime victims statewide will be able to

         13  register with and use the system through a single

         14  phone number.

         15                 In all, I am fully confident that the

         16  Department will continue to fulfill its role in the

         17  management of the City. Thank you, again, for your

         18  interest, and I will look forward to answering your

         19  questions.

         20                 To my left is the First Deputy

         21  Commissioner of the Department, Gary Lanigan. And to

         22  my right is our newly appointed Chief of Department

         23  as of February 26th, Bill Frazier.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thanks very much

         25  for an informative statement. I introduced almost
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          2  everybody here before, the only people I didn't

          3  introduce were two staff members who contribute a

          4  lot to the functioning of the Committee, Amy Weber,

          5  in our Investigations Unit, and Steve Fager in our

          6  Finance Division.

          7                 With respect to overtime, as I

          8  understand it the overtime budget has increased

          9  beyond expected over the comparable period in the

         10  prior fiscal year. That the overtime spending was 17

         11  and a half million dollars in the first quarter of

         12  Fiscal '99, compared to 12.4 in the first quarter of

         13  '98, an increase of 41 percent.

         14                 Do I infer from that that you have

         15  basically exhausted what you can accomplish in terms

         16  of pegs to control overtime?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         18  (Not identified) no.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER:  How come you

         20  are so high above planned overtime for the first

         21  quarter of '99?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         23  The primary reason for the increase in overtime, as

         24  was stated in the Commissioner's opening remarks, is

         25  that our population this year is higher than the
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          2  same period last year, and at the same time, our

          3  staffing level is lower.

          4                 To address that we have added another

          5  class, with the adopted budget assumed that we would

          6  have two recruit classes entering the Academy this

          7  year, in fact we have scheduled a third class in

          8  between those two, so that is how we planned to

          9  address it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is the

         11  additional 125 that you are planning to take on?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         13  That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. At a cost

         15  of $2.7 million.

         16                 When will these officers be deployed?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         18  They are already employed. They should be in the

         19  field in the late spring, assume late April, May,

         20  they should complete their training.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I thought the

         22  additional 125 was -- oh, I see, that is in Fiscal

         23  '99.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         25  That's correct. They are in the Academy right now,
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          2  Councilman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. And they

          4  will come out in April?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          6  They will come out in April, that's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see.

          8                 Are there specific facilities that

          9  you plan to send them to? What post are they going

         10  to fill?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Councilman, once

         12  they graduate from the Academy, there is a process

         13  that the Chief and the Chief of Administration goes

         14  through to determine exactly where they are needed

         15  in the field, and they will be disseminated to those

         16  particular commands.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In the 1999,

         18  Fiscal Year 1999 budget process, a similar

         19  initiative was advanced by the City Council,

         20  proposing a headcount increase of 150 at a cost of

         21  $1.9 million, and anticipated that additional staff

         22  would produce a half-year budget savings of $4.2

         23  million, or a net savings of $2.3 million. But this

         24  proposal was rejected by the Administration in

         25  November; is that correct?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KERIK: I

          3  don't know that the proposal was rejected in

          4  November, Councilman. I know the November Budget

          5  modification, the negotiations between the Council

          6  and OMB resulted in a class being added to the

          7  Preliminary Budget, but not in the November budget.

          8  That is a question that would be better posed --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is my

         10  understanding, is that the Council proposed this

         11  increase, which makes me wonder why you are

         12  proposing to add this 125 officers now when you

         13  rejected a similar proposal three months ago?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

         15  don't think the Administration rejected the

         16  proposal, Councilman. I think that was a result of

         17  negotiations between your Council and OMB.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And you didn't

         19  accept the proposal at that time. But now you think

         20  it's a good idea?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         22  Again, Councilman, that was something that was

         23  negotiated between the Council and the Mayor's

         24  Office.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see, okay.
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          2                 With respect to your Gang

          3  Intelligence Unit, in Fiscal 1998 the Department of

          4  Corrections launched a pilot project to better

          5  monitor the Gang population, and you referred to

          6  that in your statement.

          7                 In Fiscal '99 you had 16 additional

          8  officers added, for a total of 36 to handle the

          9  rearrest of inmates that commit additional crimes

         10  while they are in custody. I understand you are

         11  proposing to add another 20 officers in Fiscal Year

         12  2000 to the Gang Intelligence Unit, that will bring

         13  the total number to 56; is that right?

         14                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, that 20,

         15  Councilman, is an expansion to the total number of

         16  36. The total number of people in the Gang

         17  Intelligence Unit, with that 20-member expansion

         18  will be 36.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. In other

         20  words, you are bringing it from 16 to 36.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right, from 16 to

         22  36.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is in

         24  Fiscal Year 2000?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We
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          2  are doing that right now. It will be a switch from

          3  staffing on overtime to a staffing on a full-time

          4  table of organization basis.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. So, in the

          6  current fiscal year '99, you are going from 16 to

          7  36?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          9  That's correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Is there a plan

         11  for any additional officers in the Gang Intelligence

         12  Unit in the next fiscal year?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, I don't think

         14  so. Right now what we are looking at is we are

         15  evaluating what they are doing, how they are doing

         16  it. We have specific assignments for those people in

         17  Gang Intelligence, and I feel that right now what we

         18  have is sufficient.

         19                 If there comes a time later on down

         20  the road that I feel we need more people there, we

         21  will look at it then.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. Okay.

         23                 With respect to the Central Punitive

         24  Segregation Unit, you have increased CPSU staffing

         25  by three additional deputy wardens?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Assistant Deputy

          3  Wardens, those are tour commanders.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          5                 And I believe you also proposed to

          6  provide a tour commander for the 24 hours a day?

          7                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: That is what

          8  those three will be doing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see.

         10                 What impact will this additional

         11  staff have, do you think, on CPSU?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, what we are

         13  trying to do is make sure that there is supervision

         14  across the Board on every tour. In the past we had

         15  tour commanders. What we would like to do is have a

         16  tour commander specifically assigned to the Central

         17  Punitive Seg, instead of a tour commander assigned

         18  to that jail and having to be running back and forth

         19  over into that area.

         20                 Central Punitive Segregation is a

         21  part of OBCC. So, what we would like to do is them

         22  have their own tour commanders, far better

         23  supervision, much more accountability in that area.

         24  That is what that is for.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.
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          2                 It is not that you find that there is

          3  currently a security problem?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, absolutely

          5  not. Violence in Punitive Seg, as just across the

          6  board in the agency, is at its lowest levels that it

          7  has been in memory. We have people in the Department

          8  right now --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, the whole

         10  unit isn't that old, is it?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Excuse me?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I said the whole

         13  unit isn't that old, right?

         14                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, Central

         15  Punitive Seg, what you are talking about is, it is a

         16  new unit in a new facility.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         18                 COMMISSIONER KERIK:  But Central

         19  Punitive Segregation has been around for a long

         20  time. It used to be at a different jail.

         21                 But the overall violence in Central

         22  Punitive Seg is at its lowest level.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good.

         24                 Just my last question, and then I

         25  will turn it over to Councilman Robles.
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          2                 You referred on page three of your

          3  statement, the next to the last paragraph, to your

          4  SAID Program, which we have discussed before, and it

          5  seems to me you have basically built it all back up

          6  and expanded it now to the 1,548 that I think was

          7  planned for in this current year's budget; is that

          8  right?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Now, you said

         11  that with this, in your last sentence, you believe

         12  that you can serve up to 99 percent of the eligible

         13  population who are in our custody over 40 days.

         14                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you mean by

         16  that that you don't think that people who are there

         17  for less than anticipated 40 days should get the

         18  drug treatment, or what do you mean?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, there has

         20  to be a ten-day threshold, because the initial ten

         21  days of incarceration, we lose 54 percent of the

         22  people that come into our capacity. So within that

         23  first ten days we lose 54 percent of our admissions.

         24                 After that ten days, we need about 30

         25  days for the service of this program, at least 30
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          2  days, so you are looking at a 40-day window.

          3  Anything in excess of that 40-day window, we think

          4  we are reaching, we feel that we are reaching about

          5  99 percent of the people that is eligible.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: As you define

          7  eligible.

          8                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And that first

         10  ten-day period, in other words, you can't make it a

         11  30-day period? I am not sure I understand this

         12  point.

         13                 In other words, I am just thinking of

         14  opportunities for expansion of the program; do you

         15  feel you have maxed out this program now?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, I think

         17  there is always reason for evaluation and reasons to

         18  look and see if we can do more.

         19                 After our last Council hearing, we

         20  went back and really sat down and analyzed what we

         21  were doing, based on your request, and I think on

         22  January 19th I sent you a letter that specifically

         23  broke down what we are doing in SAID. When we look

         24  at it like that, of the eligibles that we feel are

         25  eligible by criteria, we are hitting about 99
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          2  percent. So, may there come a time that we may need

          3  more? There could be a time. But in that 99 percent

          4  that I feel we are hitting right now, we also have

          5  about a four to six percent vacancy rate. And this

          6  is a volunteer program. So, you know, I feel we are

          7  really serving the people that are eligible, if

          8  there comes a time that we should do more, I think

          9  we will look at it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. And we

         11  will look at it also. But it seems to me that you

         12  have made a lot of progress in this area, and I am

         13  glad to see that.

         14                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Council Member

         16  Robles.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 Commissioner, it is always good to

         20  see you. And before I ask my question, let me make

         21  sure I understand in your testimony, where you

         22  referred to the state and this contract, that 274,

         23  are those state-ready, as you would normally refer

         24  to?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: They are state
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          2  inmates, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right. So,

          4  their cases in court have been disposed of and they

          5  really should be in a state facility.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Could be, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, this 274,

          8  because that was an issue that has been raised here

          9  more than once, has that number increased or has it

         10  increased?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: It

         12  has increased.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It is 372 today.

         14  We have had that number up to 300.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I guess the

         16  point I wanted to know is how long they stay with us

         17  before the state finally does what it is supposed to

         18  do.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         20  The law requires that they stay no longer than six

         21  months.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And of this

         23  number, have any of them stayed longer than six

         24  months?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I
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          2  do not believe any have, Councilman.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, these are

          4  actually the state-ready that could be or should be

          5  in a state facility?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          7  That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

          9                 And really I have to rely upon your

         10  First Deputy because when -- and now not only as a

         11  member of this Committee and Finance, but as the new

         12  Chair of the Health Committee, I want to bring back

         13  an issue and I must say that the only reason why

         14  your absence was because that was an important week

         15  for you, since I believe you were away getting

         16  married, and I want to be clear for the record that

         17  it is not because you didn't want to become before

         18  my Committee.

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It was a good

         20  week. It was a good week, not because I missed the

         21  hearing, but it was a good week. I want to make that

         22  clear.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And I must say

         25  for the record --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Despite the

          3  appeal of your hearing --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me just

          5  say for the record that the good Commissioner did

          6  reach out to me and personally spoke to me and told

          7  me why he was not going to be there, so I just want

          8  to say that.

          9                 But as you know, there has been a

         10  controversy or an issue around health services, and

         11  who is really supposed to provide it, and while they

         12  are in your custody, but the actual contract is not

         13  under your jurisdiction, it is the Department of

         14  Health that contracts out with HHC, and then HHC

         15  contracted out and I guess the current contract is

         16  with St. Barnabas; is that correct?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, it is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And I believe

         19  you are now beginning the second year. I think that

         20  they have been around as the contractor for about a

         21  year, correct?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: In the

         24  hearing, First Deputy Commissioner, as you recall

         25  you were sitting at the table where I had
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          2  Commissioner Neal Cohen and I had HHC, and one of

          3  the things that was brought out was whether there

          4  was coordination, whether you were talking to each

          5  other, whether somebody was actually evaluating

          6  whether we are getting the services that we are

          7  purchasing. And if you remember that whole scenario,

          8  later on the Correction Board came, and in essence

          9  they were not too -- they had concerns they raised,

         10  let me be diplomatic, and if you recall, one of the

         11  things that I asked them was, that part of their

         12  function was to actually present you, Commissioner,

         13  with those concerns and have they done that, and the

         14  answer was no, we were about to.

         15                 So, my question is, remember that

         16  report that was supposed to be served under the

         17  Department of Correction about what is going wrong;

         18  has that finally been given to you?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Okay, I think you

         20  are talking about the Board of Correction?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         22                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: And that report.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Of which in

         24  that report it was supposed to show how prisoners

         25  were not getting the kind of medical attention they
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          2  should have been getting, although we have a budget

          3  contract close to anywhere 102 to 108 million

          4  dollars, I believe each fiscal year for the next

          5  three years, if I remember correctly.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Okay, the Board

          7  of Correction to date has not provided us with a

          8  report of their concerns, but I have also got to say

          9  that I think that is under the advice and

         10  recommendation of the District Attorney's Office, if

         11  you recall there was some inquiry.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: So, I think, if I

         14  am not mistaken, that is one of the reasons that the

         15  Board has not provided us with a report. But I will

         16  say that there are a number of things going on, one

         17  of which the Department, HHC, and St. Barnabas is

         18  meeting, it is run, they meeting is done by us, by

         19  DOC, we are meeting biweekly with them to address

         20  certain issues in the jails with relation to health.

         21                 In addition to that, I meet with the

         22  Board, obviously as our oversight, once a month, and

         23  if there is concerns that affects the Department or

         24  HHC, those concerns are brought out by the Board to

         25  the appropriate people at that Board meeting.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But I am

          3  hearing, exactly what my question; so, do you as the

          4  Commissioner believe that since those hearings, and

          5  since that time, there is a better coordination of

          6  communications between your Department, DOH, HHC and

          7  St. Barnabas; is that what you are saying to me?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, the

          9  coordination I think is better now than it was.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, there is

         11  one more area that I would like to mention to you

         12  and perhaps get a status of.

         13                 If you recall, Mr. First Deputy

         14  Commissioner, one of the complaints that was raised

         15  was that when an inmate has an appointment to see a

         16  facility or to see a doctor, that sometimes

         17  either/or, either the inmate was either discharged,

         18  or the inmate was en route to a court appearance,

         19  and that the clinic was not aware that that

         20  individual will not be there so they could perhaps

         21  make an appointment for another inmate; how have we

         22  addressed that area?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It has all been

         24  addressed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: First of all, the

          3  inmates now, we have implemented a protocol that I

          4  think was really there and we had to look at it and

          5  get people on board and hold them a little more

          6  accountable. There is a protocol that they are

          7  treated before they go to court, if they are going

          8  to court, and if they have to have treatment they

          9  are treated before they leave the building.

         10                 In addition to that, there has been a

         11  number of other initiatives that we have looked at

         12  to ensure that they are getting to the clinics, and

         13  that they are seen within an appropriate period of

         14  time once they get there.

         15                 So, there is a number of things we

         16  have been doing over the last several months to make

         17  sure that things are getting done.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, a personal

         19  question is, do you believe that we should bring you

         20  back again before the Health Committee and perhaps

         21  walk through about what actually -- where were we,

         22  where are we going?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Remember, the

         25  hearing came about because apparently we were not
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          2  talking to each other, or at least it was the

          3  perception of misinformation.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I think there is

          5  always going to be concerns and there is always

          6  going to be differences of opinion by different

          7  agencies, different oversights, but looking at it

          8  objectively, looking at what is going on, what we

          9  are doing, I think we have come a long way.

         10                 We are working out the kinks in a new

         11  vendor, for example. I think we are working very

         12  hard at getting the job done and I think we are

         13  doing a good job.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: My last

         15  question, and again it is related to health and when

         16  I became the Chairman, the one thing the Speaker

         17  directed me to do was to look at all of the

         18  Speaker's initiatives when it came to health

         19  services, and one of them happened to be in your

         20  agency, and that was the Speaker's drug initiative.

         21                 Can you give me a status of where we

         22  are? We are really talking about over a million plus

         23  that was put into your agency, I know that there are

         24  two programs, one of them was the STEP Program and

         25  the other one was the HIIP --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: HIIP and STEP.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right. Can you

          4  just enlighten us about, one, is it up and running?

          5                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Okay. The SAID

          6  Program, as the Chair indicated earlier, is up and

          7  running, and it is the highest numbers that it has

          8  been in the agency. We are up to 1,548 beds.

          9                 When you analyze that, that turns out

         10  to be about 8,600 people a year that are served

         11  through the program. This analysis that we did we

         12  provided to the Council back in January, we realized

         13  that there are about 8,710 people that could

         14  possibly be served as a result of the program, and

         15  we are hitting about 99 percent of those people. So,

         16  it is up and running, it is running well, and I

         17  think the people are doing a good job.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, again,

         19  since we are talking about hearings and budget and

         20  Fiscal Year 2000, then you believe that this money

         21  that was appropriated by the Council to try to

         22  address the number of people that go in through your

         23  facility that have drug addiction, that this has

         24  been very helpful to your agency?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I think it has
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          2  been helpful and I think what you may be talking

          3  about more so is, I think there was a million

          4  dollars allocated by the Council that really

          5  specifically went, in conjunction with this, went to

          6  discharge planning.

          7                 And I will let the First Dep talk on

          8  that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         11  The first piece was for the SAID program, $1 million

         12  was allocated to provide discharge planning for the

         13  SAID Program, and as the Commissioner mentioned to

         14  the Chair, we are processing what we think is a good

         15  number of people through the program now, our

         16  problem to date has been when they leave the program

         17  to ensure that they go into aftercare, and how

         18  successfully they complete that aftercare program,

         19  that is part of what the purpose was for the million

         20  dollars allocated by the Council.

         21                 There have been a series of vendors

         22  that were identified by the Council for the award of

         23  those contracts. Those vendors have submitted

         24  individual proposals. There was a slight delay in

         25  the award because originally the vendors had
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          2  proposed to come in as a consortium, as a result of

          3  discussions among the vendors they decided to come

          4  in with individual proposals which they have now

          5  submitted.

          6                 The Department of Correction has

          7  completed the presolicitation review reports for

          8  each of those vendors, and we are now discussing

          9  with the Council staff the award letters for them.

         10  Those contracts will subsequently be awarded by the

         11  Comptroller's Office, we believe that award will

         12  happen prior to the end of this fiscal year. That is

         13  the good news.

         14                 The bad news is that with award by

         15  the end of the fiscal year, we will not be spending

         16  the full million dollars by the end of the fiscal

         17  year. And that has been the result of the contract

         18  negotiations that we have had with your staff, as

         19  well as the vendors.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I ask the

         21  Chair to help me, I believe that this was one of the

         22  areas that in the Mayor's plan that we have before

         23  us today eliminates this program. And if you are

         24  saying to me --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Is that the
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          2  case? I don't know that that is the case.

          3                 You don't plan to eliminate this, do

          4  you?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

          6  believe this money is available.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, we are

          8  carrying this program over?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         10  That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So that

         12  hopefully in the plan you will see the same

         13  appropriation of funds?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         15  That's correct, Councilman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In fact, you

         17  will have the contractors coming on line and

         18  hopefully they will be successful?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         20  That's correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think this is

         22  an example of good collaboration.

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It has worked

         24  well for us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think it has
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          2  worked well all in all.

          3                 I have a couple of additional

          4  questions.

          5                 Oh, I am sorry. Council Member

          6  Golden.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 Good afternoon, gentlemen. The state

         10  beds, the 274 contracted inmates at $100 per inmate

         11  per day, and I believe you are making an average of

         12  290 leased beds daily, and it is at a figure of $7.3

         13  million. We have a cost to that? Is the $100 as I

         14  see it in your statement being about $2.5 million is

         15  the actual cost to that program?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         17  The actual cost of the program we -- the legislation

         18  is very clear on this, the City is not allowed to

         19  make a profit. We do not make it a profit. It costs

         20  us, if you were to include debt service, fringe

         21  benefits, education, medical, everything else that

         22  it costs the City to process an inmate, it would run

         23  us closer to $180 a day. So, clearly the City is not

         24  making a profit here.

         25                 The cost figure I believe that you
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          2  are discussing is limited to the salaries without

          3  fringe benefits, housing areas only, I think that is

          4  a very limited number that you may be reviewing.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Have we made

          6  any attempt to make up that $80? Is there --

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We

          8  would love --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: That is our

         10  share of the --

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We

         12  would love for the legislation to be increased and

         13  provide us with the full $180 a day, not only for

         14  the contract inmates, but also reimbursement for all

         15  state-ready inmates.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I agree with

         17  you.

         18                 The SCAAP, the State Criminal Alien

         19  Assistance Program, I see we received $13.6 million,

         20  are we receiving our full money from the State on

         21  that share?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         23  That is federal money and the City has done

         24  extremely well on that. We have received the largest

         25  allocations of any municipality throughout the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

          2  country, so it is actually something the Department

          3  is very proud of.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And does it

          5  coordinate with dollars to prisoners?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          7  Yes, it does, Councilman.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: It does?

          9  Excellent.

         10                 And last is to point out what a great

         11  job, Fiscal '96 there were 58 of these incidents,

         12  the figure has dropped to five in Fiscal 1998 and I

         13  am referring to stabbings and slashings in the

         14  institution.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: In CPSU, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Outstanding.

         17  Keep it up, gentlemen.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I have one

         22  more question, I am sorry. A real quick question.

         23  With the narcotics initiatives coming up with NYPD,

         24  what do you feel that is going to do to your

         25  headcount?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          3  From the current, as well as the proposed narcotics

          4  initiatives, our population projections assume that

          5  we would have about 3,000 inmates in our system on

          6  any given day as a result of the initiatives.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And that will

          8  be through '99, and the first half of 2000?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         10  That's correct, Councilman.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What does that

         14  actually leave you? You may have assimilated it

         15  better than me.

         16                 I mean, the current fiscal year you

         17  had an average daily population, like about 17.5?

         18                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I think 17.8,

         19  something like that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And what is your

         21  projection for the next fiscal year?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: In '99 it is

         23  about 18,000 and going into 2000 it's about 17.8,

         24  you know, it is not far off.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. So, the
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          2  total number of admissions is expected to be

          3  approximately the same?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          5  The same, that's correct.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Close to the

          7  same.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Close to the

          9  same, okay.

         10                 With respect to increased security

         11  and safety measures -- incidently, we are joined by

         12  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano from the Bronx.

         13                 The Department proposes to enhance

         14  security by installing central security x-ray

         15  machines at a cost of $323,000 in Fiscal Year 2000;

         16  what are those x-ray machines going to be used for?

         17                 MR. FRAZIER: They are used at our

         18  visit sites when visitors enter the facilities, they

         19  are used at our front gates, they are used at our

         20  courts, so we are trying to expand them to all our

         21  facilities at every entrance and egress so we can

         22  ensure that contraband isn't entered into any of the

         23  facilities.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why aren't these

         25  machines eligible for capital funds?
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          2                 We are always interested in, because

          3  of the stress on the Expense Budget, if we can in

          4  putting something in the capital budget, if it is a

          5  machine --

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

          7  am not certain the initial acquisition cost of the

          8  individual machines, Councilman, I am not sure if

          9  they would exceed the $15,000 that would be required

         10  for capital funding.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Even if the

         12  total is 322, you think that individually they may

         13  break up to less than that?

         14                 Maybe you can check that and get back

         15  to us.

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We

         17  can check on that, Councilman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: For May.

         19                 Your Y2K project that you alluded to

         20  in your opening statement. I believe that I saw, I

         21  think it was in Crain's New York Business but I am

         22  not sure, but I know within the last two, three days

         23  I read an article in the newspapers, evaluating or

         24  rating different City agencies in terms of their

         25  capacity to be Y2K compliant, and Corrections was
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          2  not rated in the high category; are you familiar

          3  with that?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, I am not

          5  familiar with it, but I wouldn't agree with whatever

          6  it is --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You wouldn't

          8  agree with it.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: We had, when we

         10  evaluated our systems, we had 21 mission critical

         11  systems, eight of which have been compliant, tested,

         12  remediated already. We have four that have been

         13  corrected and are in the process of being tested,

         14  and the remainder of the mission critical systems

         15  are being worked on now and we should be up and

         16  running by June, at least to the testing process by

         17  June.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And therefore

         19  what? When we get into the 2000, will all of your

         20  systems operate appropriately?

         21                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It is my belief

         22  they will.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And that is

         24  based on advice from experts?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Excuse me?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That's based on

          3  advice from experts that we can rely on?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Experts in the

          5  field, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And if we

          8  don't, we just have early release.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is exactly

         10  what we want to avert.

         11                 Councilwoman Juanita Watkins.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.

         14                 Mr. Commissioner, you talked in your

         15  report about the discharge programs that you are

         16  working on and the link with the community. Would

         17  you expand a little on where you are with the plans

         18  for utilizing the funds that the City Council has

         19  put in for this discharge planning?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         21  The discharge planning money for the substance

         22  abuse, Councilwoman, the plan for that is for three

         23  vendors, Samaritan Village, Osborne and WPA, to

         24  provide aftercare services for the inmates once they

         25  complete the substance abuse program in the
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          2  Department of Correction and they are released from

          3  our system. They will be tracked throughout that

          4  process. The goal is to attempt to have them

          5  complete a minimum of 90 days aftercare, that seems

          6  to be one of the thresholds in the industry that is

          7  a critical threshold to have an individual drug-free

          8  for that period of time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Now, you

         10  indicate that the community-based organizations will

         11  identify these inmates during their incarceration

         12  time and have this link set up for when they are

         13  discharged. Does that indicate that there will be

         14  interaction or that there is interaction by

         15  Samaritan House, for example, with some of the

         16  inmates prior to their discharge?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

         18  am not familiar with the details of the proposals,

         19  but what we can do, Councilwoman, is to send those

         20  proposals to your office, you will see all three

         21  proposals.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Yes, I would

         23  appreciate that, because if they are going to

         24  identify them prior to discharge, which makes good

         25  sense, it would be helpful for us to know how this
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          2  is actually being done, and when they are

          3  discharged, are some of these people being followed

          4  up by parole or other Departments?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          6  Not necessarily for this program parole, there is a

          7  separate allocation which the Council did provide

          8  for the HIIP and STEP programs, HIIP for males, STEP

          9  for females, and that program parole is involved in

         10  because they are already involved in our HIIP and

         11  STEP programs, and there is a proposal also on the

         12  table that they will actually provide the services,

         13  that parole will provide the services with this

         14  funding. That is being evaluated by the Council to

         15  determine if that is acceptable.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JUANITA: So, the

         17  inmates you anticipate participating in the program

         18  we are discussing will have completed all of their

         19  time?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         21  That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, just a few

         24  more on the Expense Budget.

         25                 We went over your new hires to reduce
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          2  overtime, but you still plan on, if I remember, it

          3  was something like $67 million in overtime for the

          4  next fiscal year. Does that make sense? Should you

          5  hire still additional officers? Would the net effect

          6  be beneficial?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          8  That will depend largely upon attrition.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, do you

         10  have an attrition plan that we can see what you are

         11  actually expecting to lose by attrition over time?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We

         13  can provide that to your office, Council Member.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, could you

         15  so that we can look at that in connection with --

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         17  That's fine.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

         19                 In other words, basically figuring

         20  out what your projected rate of attrition for your

         21  force will be over the next year and why it makes

         22  sense not to hire additional officers beyond the 125

         23  we discussed.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         25  Well, we will be hiring another 271 this April.
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          2                 What we do, Councilman, it is not

          3  only attrition, what we look at is a somewhat

          4  sophisticated model that looks at our population

          5  projection, the police initiatives, the number of

          6  anticipated parole violators, what facilities --

          7  that gives us a total population that we plan to

          8  have in our facilities at any given point in time.

          9                 We then look at that population and

         10  determine which facilities we would require to have

         11  open, and what staffing is required for those

         12  facilities.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think the

         14  reason that I said what I said was that, in looking

         15  on page 21 of the Financial Plan, and your total

         16  population is planned to go down in the next fiscal

         17  year, 2000, as against 1999, from what I can see

         18  here, like over 100 uniforms over the next fiscal

         19  year. I am looking at the bottom of page 21, and

         20  even 18 civilians; that's correct, you are expecting

         21  a lower force next fiscal year than the current

         22  fiscal year?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         24  Not a lower uniformed force, no, Councilman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You ought to
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          2  take a look at page -- do you have the Financial

          3  Plan?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

          5  don't have the Financial Plan in front of me,

          6  Councilman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Someone ought to

          8  bring it, that is what this is all about.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

         10  have it now.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: At the bottom of

         12  page 21 it looks to me that you are going to have --

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         14  You are correct, Councilman. In Fiscal Year '99 we

         15  expect to have a uniformed headcount --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Of 10/4/98.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: As

         18  of the January Plan of 11,437, reducing to 11,311

         19  next fiscal year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, it is

         21  planned to go down even with the new hires?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         23  That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, the basic

         25  question is, does it make -- I think one of the ways
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          2  in which you have been more successful in the last

          3  few years has been the fact that you have started

          4  hiring again, why not hire still more?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We

          6  will be looking at that closely with OMB as part of

          7  the Executive Budget process.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Give us your

          9  thought process on that if you could in like April

         10  or so with the attrition, so we can see what seems

         11  to make sense.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: We

         13  will do that, Councilman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. There was

         15  a question by Mr. Golden with respect to

         16  reimbursement from the state?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         18  Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And I think this

         20  is the agency where the reimbursement is going up

         21  slightly. The total percent; is that right? That was

         22  probation.

         23                 Your figures still show that the cost

         24  of state-readies and the like is a small fraction.

         25  The cost is several times what we actually get
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          2  reimbursed.

          3                 So, you know, are you pursuing

          4  vigorously increasing state reimbursement in this

          5  area? What are you doing?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          7  Yes, Councilman, we have proposed legislation. The

          8  City has proposed legislation to have the

          9  reimbursement increased to the actual cost of

         10  incarceration. And if not the actual cost, an

         11  increase would even be appropriate, because what we

         12  are currently reimbursed for most state inmates is

         13  $34 a day, with a cost of, you know, anyplace from

         14  $120 to $180 a day, depending upon what factors you

         15  include.

         16                 The other disturbing fact in the

         17  state proposed budget is that the City sentenced DNE

         18  felons, who used to be reimbursed at $17 a day, as

         19  opposed to $34 for everyone else, that reimbursement

         20  is being eliminated completely in the proposed

         21  budget.

         22                 We would hope that that is not

         23  adopted as proposed, that would cost the City about

         24  $10 million a year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If you could
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          2  give us the legislation you are referring to,

          3  perhaps, you know, I would try to introduce the

          4  resolution in support of the legislation, and it

          5  might be helpful, hopefully it would be helpful.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          7  The legislation to increase reimbursement?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         10  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is still a

         12  good idea, don't you think?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         14  Yes, absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         16                 Having experience over many years in

         17  Albany, Mr. Robles thinks it would be a good idea.

         18                 Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         20                 I would like to apologize, Mr.

         21  Chairman, for my late arrival. I have a very good

         22  reason - I was in the Bronx with the Vice President.

         23  Sorry. He won out, Shelly.

         24                 In reading your testimony, I am very

         25  interested -- someone may have asked this question,
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          2  but in the VINE system --

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          4  Yes, Councilwoman.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Could you

          6  expand on that a little bit? I see there is a

          7  notification system, but is there some kind of a

          8  tracking system or?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

         10  am not sure what you mean by tracking, let me

         11  explain what the system does.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         14  This is a system that came on line in the Department

         15  October of '97, so we are up and running now for

         16  about 18 months, and what the system does is the

         17  victim of a crime or any interested party can call a

         18  toll free number. The number is 888-VINE4NY. When

         19  the person calls that number, VINE4NY, they are able

         20  to ask if an individual is in the custody of the

         21  Department of Correction. What they would have to

         22  know is preferably the individual's NYCET (phonetic)

         23  number, which they can receive from the DA or from a

         24  police report.

         25                 Assuming that the person does not
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          2  have that number, they would have to know the

          3  individual's last name, plus one of the two other

          4  indicators, either a first name and a date of

          5  arrest, et cetera, certain information so that we

          6  could identify the individual.

          7                 Once the individual is identified,

          8  the system will say that the individual is or is not

          9  in DOC, in Department of Correction custody, New

         10  York City Department of Correction custody.

         11                 After that information is provided to

         12  the caller, the caller has the option of registering

         13  to be notified when that inmate is released from our

         14  custody. If they choose to register for

         15  notification, what they must do is enter a

         16  personalized four digit pin number. That number is

         17  so that when the notification is made, the

         18  individual will certify that they received that

         19  notification by reentering the four digit pin

         20  number.

         21                 The program has been very successful

         22  to date. The state is moving toward the same system,

         23  as well as the various counties throughout the

         24  state.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So what
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          2  happens is when the inmate is released, the victim

          3  is notified so and so is now out, but do they know

          4  where the inmate is, or he is just out there

          5  somewhere?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, it is just a

          7  release date.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Oh, okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It is when that

         10  person is released.

         11                 I see what you are saying about a

         12  tracking system, they don't track the inmate, where

         13  he went and what he is doing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: It is just a

         16  release date specific.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay, are

         18  there any plans to do anything further than that? Or

         19  that is --

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         21  There are certain laws for certain type of inmates

         22  that would have to register their location with

         23  precincts, the Meagan's Law, which I am sure you are

         24  familiar with.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          3  So, that type of tracking is taking place in the

          4  City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Would a

          6  rape crime come under --

          7                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: I don't think so.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay. That

          9  is my line of thought.

         10                 Okay, thank you very much.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, trying to

         13  wrap up, because Investigations should be here soon.

         14                 As a term and condition in the Fiscal

         15  Year 1999 adopted budget, the Council imposed a

         16  requirement to provide a detailed report to the

         17  Committee, outlining your plan to eliminate 55 posts

         18  in Fiscal 1999; have you eliminated those posts?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, those posts

         20  were eliminated.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         22                 Have you submitted a report to us?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: No, I think,

         24  Councilman, the posts were eliminated before the --

         25  if you want to call the finalization of the budget;
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          2  am I right?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          4  That's correct, Councilman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How is that

          6  possible if this was in Fiscal Year '99 budget that

          7  you eliminated the posts before?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: If

          9  I am not mistaken, Councilman, the budget was not

         10  finalized until November because of negotiations

         11  between your office and the Mayor's office.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could you

         13  provide us with a report as to, you know, what posts

         14  were eliminated?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         16  Councilman, I believe the terms and conditions

         17  become an infringement on the Commissioner's ability

         18  to run his agency and those reports should be

         19  requested through the Mayor's Office.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Here we are

         21  asking for what you have done, not -- it seems sort

         22  of bureaucratic, we are just asking for basic

         23  information as to what you have done.

         24                 You have a large capital budget, and

         25  we don't have a separate hearing at this time on the
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          2  Capital Budget, if I could ask you some questions.

          3                 I think the preliminary capital plan

          4  for the next fiscal year, 2000, is $148.2 million,

          5  and your first priority is replacement of 2,150 beds

          6  located in aging wooden structures with --

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN: I

          8  am sorry, Councilman, would you repeat that

          9  question?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am saying, the

         11  $148.2 million in capital funds in the next fiscal

         12  year, I believe your priority has shifted from

         13  expanding bed capacity to replacing modular units

         14  and sprungs (sic) with permanent steel structures,

         15  and that your first priority for replacement are the

         16  2,150 beds located in aging wooden structures; what

         17  is the status of the modular and sprung replacement?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         19  What we are planning over the next ten years,

         20  actually, Councilman, is the replacement of 5,300

         21  modular beds, and you are correct, over the first

         22  four years of the plan, 2,150 are currently planned

         23  to be replaced.

         24                 The first 448 of those we are

         25  designing right now. So over a ten-year period we
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          2  expect to be doing a very large replacement of

          3  modular structures that were built in the early

          4  eighties as population quickly grew.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. That

          6  sounds sensible.

          7                 In Fiscal Year 2000, $16.1 million

          8  has been appropriated for the mental health

          9  infirmary on Rikers Island. In Fiscal Year '98, this

         10  1,000 bed infirmary was scaled down to less than 100

         11  beds; what is the status of the mental health

         12  infirmary now?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         14  That $16 million is being developed. A program is

         15  being developed at the west facility for specialty

         16  clinics.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. And how

         18  many beds are going to be there, do you know,

         19  approximately?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         21  The clinics are not going to be housing facilities,

         22  these will be clinics for inmate care.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Clinics. Okay.

         24                 In Fiscal Year '99, $38.9 million was

         25  appropriated for modular replacement of the George
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          2  Motchen Detention Center. There is an additional $20

          3  million in Fiscal 2000 and $10 million in Fiscal

          4  Year 2001; what is the status of this project?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          6  That is on schedule, that is the mod replacement

          7  project that we were talking about a few minutes

          8  ago, the larger project, Councilman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. And that

         10  is going to be a ten-year project then?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         12  That's correct, Councilman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And the

         14  detention center is now in use? Even though you are

         15  replacing, you are just sort of --

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         17  These are discrete modular structures as part of the

         18  larger scale.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The larger

         20  center is being kept up at the same time?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         22  That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, and

         24  basically this is not going to affect the overall

         25  capacity of the jail system, it keeps the capacity
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          2  operational?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          4  Over the long-run it should have no operational

          5  impact because our population capacity plans take

          6  this into account over the next couple of years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Your long-term

          8  population capacity projection is stable, or lower,

          9  not a significant increase as we had, say, in the

         10  1980s and even the early '90s?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         12  That's correct, Councilman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And two other

         14  questions.

         15                 In Fiscal Year 2000 there is a $13.7

         16  million for the upgrade of fire safety systems at

         17  four borough facilities, what fire safety upgrades

         18  will take place?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         20  The Commissioner addressed that in his opening

         21  statement. There are three that are currently

         22  underway. I believe that is the Bronx House,

         23  Brooklyn House, Queens and Brooklyn Correctional

         24  Facility.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.
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          2                 Are these the only facilities that

          3  need fire safety upgrades?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          5  These are the final facilities that will require the

          6  fire safety upgrade.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: These are the

          8  what?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         10  The final facilities. We have other facilities that

         11  have already been made compliant.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. And just

         13  last, in terms of support space, the Department's

         14  long-term work involves improvements to 14 of 16

         15  facilities. I understand construction has been

         16  initiated in nine and you have construction planned

         17  for the remaining five in November of 1998 and

         18  September of 1999.

         19                 I think it would be easiest, rather

         20  than go through each of these, which, frankly, I,

         21  myself, after all these years still don't know each

         22  by name, maybe I can give you questions with respect

         23  to the status of your facility upgrades and you can

         24  respond to us in writing, with respect to the --

         25  does that make sense to you?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Yes, we can get

          3  them back to you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Councilman

          5  Robles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And those

          7  modules where you will provide services for mental

          8  health, the renovation is one thing, which I

          9  understand that, is that part of the contract that

         10  St. Barnabas -- who will provide the service? It

         11  won't be you.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         13  That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Is that part

         15  of the St. Barnabas that is currently there?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         17  Yes, Councilman.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, is that

         19  part, also now that -- I just want to make sure

         20  because that was one of the areas that the

         21  Correction Board was complaining, so these

         22  renovations is really going to become clinics in

         23  order to provide those services?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         25  That's correct, Councilman.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, if that is

          3  done, then that complaint or that allegation goes

          4  out the door?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

          6  That's correct -- well, hopefully so. Any allegation

          7  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, I guess

          9  in fairness, my question then is, because it has

         10  nothing to do with capital, capital is one thing,

         11  but services, which is Expense, is another thing.

         12                 The question that I have is, once

         13  that is said and done, and you have the facilities

         14  now, the clinics, will that clinic or clinics --

         15  have you at a level that meets your demands?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Councilman, it,

         17  what increase with services we have now. And it is

         18  our anticipation that it would meet our demand at

         19  that time.

         20                 Will there be differences of opinion?

         21  Maybe. You know, maybe the Board might have

         22  something to say, or have some concerns, and we will

         23  address those concerns when the time comes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, where is

         25  St. Barnabas providing that service now, since you
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          2  are saying now -- I guess are these clinics up and

          3  running, or are these new clinics?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Well, there is a

          5  number of clinics -- well, it depends on what

          6  clinics and what services you are talking about.

          7  There is clinics in every facility. There is mental

          8  observation areas in some facilities. There is a

          9  variety of different clinics and different services.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But the ones

         11  we are talking about, once it is said and done, it

         12  is done, what will they be doing that is different

         13  from what you are doing while this renovation is

         14  being done?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         16  Specific clinics are being designed, we can provide

         17  your office with exactly what clinics will be

         18  designed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I appreciate

         20  that.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LANIGAN:

         22  The other thing, Council Member, I would like to

         23  correct the record on the fire safety project. These

         24  are the first four facilities that are being made

         25  compliant. There will be ten additional facilities

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            67

          1  DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

          2  and we will send you that schedule also.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, I have no

          4  further questions. If there are no further questions

          5  by any other member of the Committee, then we look

          6  forward to working with you on the budget over the

          7  next several months and look forward to seeing you

          8  back in May.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KERIK: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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